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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: The last meeting

          3  we held up the candidates for like two and a half,

          4  three hours, because of issues that were unrelated

          5  to our Committee, whereas if we can start today and

          6  move ahead quickly, we'll allow you to get to your

          7  afternoon appointments.

          8                 Good morning, everyone. My name is

          9  Leroy Comrie, I chair the Committee on Rules,

         10  Privileges and Elections. Today we have before us

         11  four candidates, all Mayoral appointees for our

         12  advice and consent review: Roberta Gratz, who will

         13  be appointed to the Landmarks Preservation

         14  Commission, resident of Manhattan, filling a vacancy

         15  whose term will expire this June 28th, 2003.

         16                 Gregorio Mayers. Is that how you

         17  pronounce it?

         18                 MR. MAYERS: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you. To the

         20  Environmental Control Board, resident of Brooklyn,

         21  for a term starting on March 6th, 2003, ending on

         22  March 5th, 2007, replacing Joseph Mazur as a general

         23  public member.

         24                 Steven Russo, to the Environmental

         25  Control Board, resident of Manhattan, filling a
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          2  vacancy of a term expiring on March 5th, 2007. As a

          3  member with knowledge in the water pollution control

          4  area; and

          5                 Jason Swan, to the Environmental

          6  Control Board, resident of Queens, for a term

          7  starting on March 6th, 2003, ending March 5th, 2007,

          8  replacing Antionette Zaner as a member with

          9  knowledge in the Noise Pollution Control area.

         10                 Okay, so, we will start with Ms.

         11  Gratz.

         12                 The Landmarks Preservation

         13  Commission, as you know, is responsible for

         14  establishing and regulating landmarks, portions of

         15  landmarks, landmark sites, interior landmarks,

         16  scenic and historic districts. The Commission

         17  consists of 11 members with at least one residing in

         18  each of the five boroughs.

         19                 There must be at least three

         20  architects; one historian qualified in the field;

         21  one City Planner or landscape architect; and one

         22  realtor.

         23                 The Mayor appoints the members of the

         24  Commission and designates one of the members to

         25  serve as Chair and the other to serve as Vice Chair.
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          2                 Members other than the Chair serve

          3  without compensation but are reimbursed for expenses

          4  necessarily incurred in the performance of their

          5  duties.

          6                 The Chair's salary is currently

          7  $143,853. The Commission is required to provide

          8  opportunities for comments, in advance of any

          9  hearing on a proposed designation.

         10                 Within ten days of making a

         11  designation, the Commission is required to file a

         12  copy of the designation with the City Planning

         13  Commission and the City Council, which in 60 days

         14  after the filing, City Planning must hold a hearing

         15  and submit a report to the City Council with their

         16  recommendations.

         17                 The City Council may modify or

         18  disapprove by a majority vote any designation from

         19  the Commission, but only within 120 days after

         20  having received a required designation report, or at

         21  least 60 days since the filing of the City Planning

         22  report.

         23                 At this time I'd like to introduce

         24  the members of the rules Committee that are here.

         25                 Standing to my left is Council Member
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          2  Michael Nelson from the Bronx.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Michael Nelson

          4  from where? Brooklyn.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right,

          6  Brooklyn, Bronx.

          7                 Michael Nelson from Brooklyn. I have

          8  Bronx on my mind this morning.

          9                 We have Council Member Simcha Felder.

         10                 Welcome to the Committee.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: From Brooklyn.

         13                 And we have right next to me is the

         14  Majority Leader Joel Rivera.

         15                 Above me is Council Member Melinda

         16  Katz from Queens.

         17                 My able and wonderful counsel Ed

         18  O'Malley is here. The Counsel for the Rules

         19  Committee.

         20                 To my right is Council Member Lew

         21  Fidler from Brooklyn, and the Deputy Majority

         22  Leader, Councilman William Perkins, from Manhattan.

         23                 So, Ms. Gratz, you can see I'm in a

         24  good mood today, so if you have an opening statement

         25  that you would like to make before us.
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          2                 We have to swear you in. If you can

          3  raise your right hand to be sworn in, please. The

          4  Counsel will swear you in.

          5                 MR. O'MALLEY: Do you solemnly swear

          6  or affirm the testimony you're about to give to the

          7  Committee is the truth, the whole truth, and nothing

          8  but the truth?

          9                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: I do.

         10                 MR. O'MALLEY: Please state your name

         11  for the record.

         12                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: Roberta Brandes

         13  Gratz.

         14                 MR. O'MALLEY: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, do you have

         16  an opening statement that you would like to make to

         17  the Committee?

         18                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: A few things I

         19  would like to say to the Committee.

         20                 First let me say that it's an honor

         21  for me to be appointed to this Commission. In one

         22  way or another I have been involved with historic

         23  preservation issues for more than 30 years, starting

         24  as a reporter for the New York Post, I started

         25  writing about Landmarks Preservation I must say
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          2  before many people in the public even knew what it

          3  was, and I reported on all boroughs of landmarks

          4  before many Manhattanites had even crossed a bridge.

          5                 As an activist I first reported and

          6  on then became active in trying to save the Helen

          7  Hayes and Morasco Theatres, in the effort to save

          8  the theatres on Broadway.

          9                 In my own building, a landmarked

         10  building on Central Park West, I helped get it

         11  designated when it looked like all sorts of window

         12  changes were going to eviscerate its landmark

         13  quality, and I am the founder of the Eldridge

         14  Project (phonetic), the effort to preserve the first

         15  synagogue on the Lower East Side of the Eastern

         16  European Orthodox Jews.

         17                 I'm currently the head of public

         18  policy for the State Preservation League of New

         19  York, and it is our organization that has been

         20  leading the effort to secure passage of a

         21  Neighborhood Reinvestment Act for the whole state,

         22  which would be a great help in the City for

         23  particularly in neighborhoods where people of modest

         24  means own their property and are unable to reinvest

         25  in that property because there would be a rebate, as
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          2  well as a tax credit.

          3                 I take great satisfaction that in 30

          4  years there is a very great appreciation for

          5  landmarks preservation throughout the City and the

          6  public. I think it is an extremely important issue

          7  but is very much a part of every other issue that we

          8  face in this City.

          9                 I think in many ways the agency is

         10  misunderstood and unappreciated, but that the issue

         11  itself is a strong one.

         12                 I believe firmly that historic

         13  preservation is economic development, it's not a

         14  choice between either/or. I've written a lot about

         15  this in two books and many articles, and I'd just

         16  like to say there are probably four priorities that

         17  interest me in my joining the Commission. One, I

         18  believe in a very strong public process, open and

         19  involving community as much as possible. I believe

         20  we need a strong enforcement approach to landmarks

         21  designation.

         22                 I also believe that the Commission

         23  should make an effort to reach out to private

         24  resources to help through the Landmarks Foundation

         25  in its work for the Commission, and I would love to
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          2  get involved in doing what I have seen done better

          3  in other cities, and that is using historic

          4  preservation as an avenue for creation of affordable

          5  housing in our neighborhoods around the City.

          6                 That covers the general ideas that I

          7  like to present, and I entertain all your questions.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you for

          9  your opening statement. Your history is varied and

         10  vast, and it seems like you've had a lot of unique

         11  experience that you will be able to bring to the

         12  Landmarks Preservation Commission.

         13                 The Chair of the Landmarks

         14  Subcommittee is here, who is Councilman Simcha

         15  Felder.

         16                 The Chair of the Land Use Committee,

         17  Melinda Katz, would like to ask the first question.

         18  I was just letting you know that you were going to

         19  ask the second question.

         20                 Council Member Katz.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chair.

         23                 I look forward to hearing Councilman

         24  Felder's comments as Chair of the Landmarks

         25  Committee, as well.
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          2                 Ms. Gratz, thank you for being here

          3  today. Your resume is obviously extremely complete

          4  and we are happy to have you in front of this

          5  Committee for confirmation today.

          6                 I am Chair of Land Use and I rely

          7  heavily on Simcha Felder, as well, in Landmarks.

          8                 I did have a quick question.

          9  Obviously through the last year that we've had the

         10  Committee, the one thing that keeps coming up time

         11  and time again is how to save landmarks, and how to

         12  have our neighborhoods stay the beautiful

         13  neighborhoods that they are in the City of New York,

         14  while also worrying about economic development in

         15  these very difficult times of the City budget.

         16                 And I see from your new book, "City's

         17  Back From The Edge: New Life For Downtown," you have

         18  a lot of definite ideas on that topic, and also some

         19  of your comments in the newspaper regarding the new

         20  LMDC architectural drawings that have happened.

         21                 So, I wondered if you could just

         22  expand on that for a moment for the rest of the

         23  Committee, as well?

         24                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: Well, as I said, I

         25  believe that historic preservation is economic
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          2  development. I don't think it is a matter of a

          3  choice, and I think if you see, if you look through

          4  the history of designation, of particularly of

          5  districts in this City, and every City that I have

          6  visited, and there are many, the improvement that

          7  comes, the investment, the caring, both by the

          8  public agencies and the people who live in the

          9  district, really adds to this flow of economic

         10  development in a community.

         11                 Now, the kind of economic development

         12  I talk about is small, and it's incremental, it's

         13  organic, it's all part of a sort of an ecology, an

         14  urban ecology.

         15                 It's not big projects, it's not

         16  stadiums and all sorts of big things. It's the kind

         17  of things that really rebuild districts, and I think

         18  there are a few things, and I clearly am not going

         19  to repeat a lot here, and if any of you care to read

         20  that book, I'm happy to provide you with a copy, but

         21  there are a lot of ideas that I have seen in places

         22  around the country that I would like to try to

         23  introduce through the Commission, in terms of

         24  coordinating those ideas.

         25                 I do think that we need, in a more
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          2  substantive way to take on the issue of

          3  misunderstanding of gentrification.

          4                 Gentrification in many cases, as I

          5  have written, is often a positive thing, where it is

          6  negative is when it starts forcing out the people

          7  who have been long-time residents or property owners

          8  in a neighborhood.

          9                 But the issue is not to preserve the

         10  district as an alternative. The issue is to find the

         11  mechanisms to keep the people there who have been

         12  there while the improvement goes on around them, and

         13  that has been done in many places, I think there are

         14  ways to do it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I think we're

         16  going to agree on quite a lot.

         17                 Just to correct myself, it wasn't

         18  obviously the World Trade area, it was the "West

         19  Side Planning" that the comments came from, so I

         20  thank you for not correcting me in public and on the

         21  record.

         22                 I did find your comments in there

         23  interesting, and I will just encourage my colleagues

         24  also to look at the particular article in the book.

         25  It's a good article.
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          2                 I look forward to working with you,

          3  Ms. Gratz.

          4                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Councilman

          6  Felder, do you want to ask questions?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I'm not

          8  insulted. I just wanted to ask, I've been looking

          9  through it, I notice that the appointment is til

         10  June 28th, 2003, and I'm wondering whether you can

         11  enlighten me as to why that's so?

         12                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: I'm filling a

         13  position that expires in June of this year, but I'm

         14  assured the intention is to reappointment.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: But after

         16  looking through some of the others, in other words,

         17  why would -- in other words, when you say you're

         18  assured, can you elaborate a little bit?

         19                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: Well, the reason

         20  that they picked that slot is because I'm not in one

         21  of the other categories, and, so, that's the

         22  position they want me to fill, that it expires now

         23  is because it has not been refilled in the past, and

         24  I think it was in the way something that they were

         25  actually unaware that it was so immediate, but we've
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          2  already discussed that I think there's going to be a

          3  letter of intent that it would be their intention

          4  for me to fill this position and be reappointed.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Well, the only

          6  reason I'm asking that is because the vacancy has

          7  existed for such a long time, it seemed quite

          8  interesting that they would fill it, and I'm not

          9  questioning your ability to fill it, but I'm just

         10  curious about why after such a long lapse they would

         11  fill it for three or four months and then do it

         12  again.

         13                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: I think it's

         14  probably a formality. I don't know.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Councilman, my

         17  understanding, from when I has asked that question

         18  also, was that it's because of the unique slot, or I

         19  forget what they put, her abilities make her the

         20  best person for the particular thing that they

         21  needed to fill that part in, and I know I'm saying

         22  that badly.

         23                 But the Landmarks Preservation

         24  Commission, her background made her the best and

         25  most highly qualified person to fill that, and
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          2  because they feel that she's such an excellent

          3  candidate, that she will probably roll over into the

          4  next term, which will be coming up.

          5                 So, she'll be back before us this

          6  year, hopefully for a quick vote then also, because

          7  she does have impeccable credentials. She's written

          8  extensively and she's one of the originators of

          9  landmarking.

         10                 So, I would again, as I said in the

         11  beginning, I think she's a wonderful addition to the

         12  Landmarks Preservation Committee, and I am sure that

         13  she will be an advocate for positive landmarking in

         14  this City, and I think that we'll find that the

         15  Landmarks Commission will do a lot of new and

         16  progressive things under her influence and

         17  leadership.

         18                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We've been joined

         20  by Council Member Yvette Clarke from Brooklyn; and

         21  Council Member Christine Quinn was here, and she

         22  came back. No, she's next door at our Cultural

         23  Affairs, which she sits on also.

         24                 And Council Member Madeline

         25  Provenzano from the Bronx is here also, and David
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          2  Weprin, Chair of the Finance Committee, from Queens

          3  is here also.

          4                 Council member.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Yes, I look

          6  forward to working together with you. And I have

          7  confidence in the Chair's confidence in you, as well

          8  as the Chair of the Land Use, although I'm not

          9  thoroughly familiar with all the work you've done.

         10                 I just want to ask or really request

         11  that the issue about landmarking in the outer

         12  boroughs, which has been something that the

         13  Commission has been committed to doing, in giving

         14  priority, I would just ask that you do so as well so

         15  that people outside of Manhattan feel that we're

         16  being paid attention to.

         17                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: Well, I

         18  particularly made a point in my opening remarks to

         19  say that I did report on landmarking in the other

         20  boroughs, as I like to say, before a lot of

         21  Manhattanites crossed the Bridge.

         22                 I believe in it, as well, and I think

         23  that we have a lot of work that can be done there,

         24  and particularly when there is community interest

         25  and support, I think that's something to be
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          2  responded to with enthusiasm.

          3                 Council Member Fidler.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you,

          5  Chairman.

          6                 I'm just looking over this rather

          7  exhaustive resume and file, and I see you have an

          8  affiliation with Pratt, and I'm just curious, it is

          9  my understanding that Pratt did in fact receive City

         10  funding for this Institute, for this program, or at

         11  least has applied and perhaps been cut; am I

         12  confusing different parts of Pratt?

         13                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: Yes. I'm not

         14  really affiliated with Pratt. I'm serving on a

         15  Committee to help find a replacement for Ron

         16  Schiffman, who is retiring as Director of Pratt,

         17  and, so, that has been, I mean I don't have any

         18  other affiliation. I've had a long relationship with

         19  them, because I think the work they do is probably

         20  the most effective of any in the country, so because

         21  of my relationship with them, I have been asked to

         22  serve on that Committee, and that's my only direct

         23  affiliation.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Okay. And the

         25  other question I have, a totally different subject.
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          2                 When I asked the last Commissioner

          3  that came before us, we have a number of historic

          4  Dutch Homes throughout Brooklyn, and I imagine from

          5  your extensive experience you're familiar with them

          6  at least in a general sense.

          7                 They each operate at this point

          8  completely independently from each other, and I have

          9  suggested to the Parks Commissioner and others that

         10  there really ought to be some method of integrated,

         11  and coordinating their activity so that perhaps the

         12  Dutch historic homes that are throughout Brooklyn

         13  become part of a coordinated tourist attraction of

         14  this City that people can take advantage of.

         15                 Do you believe, do you see any role,

         16  proactive role for the Landmarks Preservation

         17  Commission, you know, in that kind of effort, even

         18  though these homes have already been designated?

         19                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: Well, first of

         20  all, it's the first idea that I'm hearing of a

         21  coordinated effort, and I think it's a wonderful

         22  idea. It's something, I mean I remember writing

         23  about the pending restoration of -- I can't remember

         24  which one which pended for another ten years, but I

         25  don't see why not, why the Commission can't take a
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          2  proactive role.

          3                 I'm not quite sure how it would work,

          4  but it's certainly something the Commission should

          5  be part of and should encourage and I would be

          6  interested in hearing more about that, and I think

          7  your point of it being a coordinated tourist

          8  attraction is a very good one, because what we

          9  really failed to realize, is that I think there was

         10  a study not long ago that women in four or five

         11  tourists come to New York for cultural reasons, not

         12  for sports attendance, but for cultural reasons, and

         13  among the highest cultural use is the exploring of

         14  historic neighborhoods, and the more that we can get

         15  our tourists to cross the bridge into other boroughs

         16  and explore the richness of the City, I think any

         17  effort like that should be certainly of interest to

         18  the Preservation Commission, and if there were a way

         19  it could help, I think it should certainly do so.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I think, if

         21  recollection serves me correctly that it was the

         22  Peter Klason House (phonetic) that you wrote about.

         23                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: You're right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Which is very,

         25  very dear to my heart, and after you are appointed
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          2  and confirmed, as I surely believe you will be

          3  today, I will in fact discuss the possibilities of

          4  integrating those various homes throughout Brooklyn

          5  with you, and it's something that a number of

          6  Brooklyn members are interested in, and I think we

          7  would love to see Brooklyn as a tourist destination,

          8  and we think this is one of the reasons for people

          9  to get on a sightseeing bus to come out and see the

         10  best borough.

         11                 We will be looking forward to working

         12  with you on that.

         13                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: I would be happy

         14  to do that.

         15                 I must say that I think interestingly

         16  enough, in recent years more and more tourists do

         17  get out of Manhattan, or I should say go north of

         18  96th Street, and east of the East River, but I think

         19  more can be done in that area and I think that would

         20  be terrific.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         22  Clarke.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chair.

         25                 I just wanted to sort of add my voice
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          2  to that of my colleague, Council Member Fidler, and

          3  also, as I'm not really intricately knowledgeable

          4  about the Landmarks Commission, I do have a number

          5  of landmarked designated areas within my district.

          6                 However, one of the challenges that

          7  I've noticed, particularly within the boundaries of

          8  my district, and I'm sure it's across the City, is

          9  the challenge of historic churches within the

         10  boroughs.

         11                 Many of them, cathedral size, that

         12  have had a change in congregation over many

         13  generations, and are challenged with keeping those

         14  buildings in repair, and in the original state, have

         15  you had any research into that, any discussions of

         16  what can be done, particularly given your status

         17  financially within our communities?

         18                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: Ironically, this

         19  is close to my heart because as I said in my opening

         20  remarks, I am the founder of the effort to save and

         21  preserve and restore the Eldridge Synagogue, and

         22  that effort started 20 years ago, and it is still

         23  going on. It is a long, hard battle.

         24                 But in the course of that time, I've

         25  seen the issue of religious properties go from one
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          2  of total contention to now the proper role, which is

          3  to figure out how, not whether, to save religious

          4  properties.

          5                 We've seen a great deal of progress

          6  in the private preservation organizations like the

          7  Landmarks Conservancy, with funds, private funds, to

          8  help in the restoration of historic churches and

          9  synagogues and religious properties, all kinds.

         10                 I do feel very strongly, two things,

         11  that every religious property must have a

         12  constituency, and this was something that was a real

         13  lesson at Eldridge (phonetic), we had to build a

         14  constituency for that synagogue. It was unknown.

         15  Basically it was forgotten. It had a thread of a

         16  congregation.

         17                 Number two, that religious property

         18  must then reach out to its community and the larger

         19  community. Because if we're going to save these

         20  religious properties, not just for the congregation

         21  itself, but because they are important landmarks in

         22  their community, it is imperative that the community

         23  support that church, even if it is not the church of

         24  their choice.

         25                 And we've seen this happen on the
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          2  Upper West Side where the whole west side came

          3  together to save the 4th Universalist Church on

          4  Central Park West, and helped it find other uses for

          5  the church that didn't conflict but added to its

          6  funding and to fundraise from its neighbors.

          7                 And I think there are models of

          8  success of the recent decade or so that can be

          9  introduced to some of the churches that perhaps are

         10  unaware of what can be done, and it may be, and I'd

         11  be happy to help with this, it may be that we

         12  request of some of our successful stories and

         13  institutions to be the, somewhat the ambassadors,

         14  the news takers, to other religious properties, and

         15  let them know what their history has been and what

         16  avenues there are for their help?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I'd really be

         18  interested in looking at some of the models and

         19  blueprints for doing that.

         20                 The district that I represent is a

         21  very old community, very old community in terms of

         22  its infrastructure, and its architecture, but over

         23  many generations you have several different

         24  immigrants coming in and each, you know,

         25  establishing their way, not necessarily equalizing
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          2  the wealth that might have been there previously. So

          3  those are what some of the challenges are.

          4                 And then really an analysis of

          5  whether in fact these are landmark structures. I

          6  don't know if each congregation has even done a

          7  history of the structure that they're located in.

          8                 So, some of those technical

          9  assistance pieces are some of the things that I

         10  think can be quite beneficial, to our communities in

         11  terms of going forward in landmarking in communities

         12  outside of Manhattan where the resource is more

         13  concentrated.

         14                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: Well, first let me

         15  say, I do think there are resources and private

         16  preservation organizations that are really already

         17  helping and can help some more.

         18                 Just as a personal aside, I have to

         19  say I think the immigrant issue is a very

         20  interesting one, and when I started the effort with

         21  the Eldridge Synagogue, people would say to me, why

         22  do you want to save an old synagogue in the Middle

         23  of Chinatown? And I said because, first of all, it

         24  has nothing to do with who is there now, and

         25  furthermore, if you look at the history of the
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          2  synagogue and you look at the history of the Lower

          3  East Side today, you see the history of 100 years

          4  ago as well. And they are one history, they are not

          5  separate histories.

          6                 So, I think it is a challenge, there

          7  is no doubt about it, particularly in the older

          8  neighborhoods that see an influx of immigrants.

          9                 But I don't think it's a challenge

         10  that should be avoided.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Ms. Gratz, I just

         12  wanted to ask you one question regarding your

         13  relationship, and how do you feel your relationship

         14  will be with the City Council as a member of the

         15  Landmarks Preservation Commission?

         16                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: I think the

         17  relationship can be whatever those of you would like

         18  it to be.

         19                 Obviously, there are issues in all of

         20  your districts that are not formal issues to come

         21  before the Commission, but certainly require, as far

         22  as I'm concerned, the attention and consideration by

         23  the Commission, so I would be more than happy to,

         24  you know, with the Chair, who I know is very

         25  interested in this issue himself, you know to look
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          2  for ways that we can at least be, number one,

          3  apprised of issues that we may not be aware of, and

          4  if not directly be of assistance, be able to steer

          5  the right people in the right direction.

          6                 I do believe in being an activist on

          7  this issue.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'm sure you will

          9  be.

         10                 We look forward to your presence on

         11  the Commission, and just one piece of technical

         12  information regarding confidentiality with a

         13  particular organization that you have, first that

         14  you are associated with the preservation league, and

         15  I'm sure that you will easily abide by those rules

         16  and regulations.

         17                 Seeing that there are no other

         18  members that had any questions, we will be

         19  interviewing or reviewing the other candidates at

         20  this time, and you're welcome to stay but we'll be

         21  voting at the end.

         22                 If you have to go, we understand.

         23                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: Thank you. But I

         24  look forward to having a relationship with all of

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          3                 MS. BRANDES GRATZ: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: The next person

          5  to be sworn in is Mr. Charles Russo, who will be

          6  going to the Environmental Control Board, and since

          7  we have more than one person. The next three are for

          8  the Environmental Control Board. Okay, so, we can do

          9  all three at one time, unless anybody has an

         10  objection, it will make life a little quicker.

         11                 The Environmental Control Board is

         12  part of the Department of Environmental Protection.

         13  They adjudicate Notices of Violations issued by

         14  various City agencies, including their Departments

         15  of Environmental Protection, Police, Sanitation,

         16  Health, Mental Hygiene, Fire and Buildings.

         17                 The Board has the power to render

         18  decisions and orders and to impose civil penalties

         19  under the law provided for such violations.

         20                 The Board considers matters relating

         21  to the cleanliness of City streets, the disposal of

         22  waste, security of the water supply, the regulation

         23  of street peddling, and the City response to

         24  emergencies caused by releases or threatened

         25  releases of hazardous substances.
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          2                 The Board may also adopt regulations

          3  pertaining to emissions into the City air, and into

          4  the waters.

          5                 The Board consists of the

          6  Commissioners of the Department of Environmental

          7  Protection, Sanitation, Health, Mental Hygiene,

          8  Buildings, Police, Fire and Consumer Affairs, as

          9  well as six persons appointed by the Mayor with the

         10  advice and consent of the Council.

         11                 The Commissioner of the Department of

         12  Environmental Protection serves as the Chair.

         13                 Other than agency commissioners --

         14  may not be employed by members, other than agency

         15  commissioners may not be employed by the City. Five

         16  of the six non-Commissioner members must possess

         17  broad general background and experience, one each in

         18  the following areas: Air pollution control; water

         19  pollution control; noise pollution control; real

         20  estate or the business community.

         21                 The six non-Commissioner member

         22  represents the general public. Members other than

         23  agency Commissioners are compensated and receive a

         24  $150 per diem upon performing the work of the Board.

         25  Member terms are four years.
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          2                 So, before us we have Mr. Steven

          3  Russo, again; Mr. Jason Swan; and Mr. Gregorio

          4  Mayers.

          5                 Could you raise your right hands at

          6  this time to be sworn in?

          7                 MR. O'MALLEY: Do you solemnly swear

          8  or affirm the testimony you're about to give the

          9  Committee is the truth, the whole truth and nothing

         10  but the truth?

         11                 MR. RUSSO: I do.

         12                 MR. MAYERS: I do.

         13                 MR. SWAN: I do.

         14                 MR. O'MALLEY: Please individually

         15  state your names for the record.

         16                 MR. RUSSO: Steven Russo.

         17                 MR. SWAN: Jason David Swan.

         18                 MR. MAYES: Gregorio Mayers.

         19                 MR. O'MALLEY: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Am I missing --

         21                 MR. SCANLON: No, Councilman. My name

         22  is Ray Scanlon, I'm the Deputy Legal Director at

         23  ECB. I'm here to assist the Council or members with

         24  any questions you may have with ECB.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right. Good
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          2  morning.

          3                 MR. SCANLON: Good morning.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you for

          5  coming.

          6                 Opening statement Mr. Russo?

          7                 MR. RUSSO: Yes. Good morning, Mr.

          8  Chairman, members of the Committee.

          9                 It's also an honor for me to have

         10  been nominated by the Mayor to serve on the

         11  Environmental Control Board, and I appreciate your

         12  consideration here this morning.

         13                 As my resume reflects, I have

         14  practiced in the field of environmental law and

         15  litigation, as well as the related areas of Land Use

         16  and Economic Development for virtually my entire

         17  career.

         18                 I've had the pleasure of representing

         19  the City of New York, first as an Assistant

         20  Corporation Counsel in the New York City Law

         21  Department, as well as in private practice. While at

         22  the Law Department, I was principally responsible

         23  for the permitting of the City's 14 sewage treatment

         24  plants, which is one of the areas of water expertise

         25  that I possess.
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          2                 I've also represented other

          3  governmental agencies, such as the New York City

          4  Economic Development Corporation, the Hudson River

          5  Park Trust, the Port Authority, and many other

          6  municipalities throughout the State.

          7                 I think that experienced, combined

          8  with my private sector experience, representing the

          9  regulated community, will stand me in good stead on

         10  the ECB and give me a unique and helpful perspective

         11  in that agency, and I thank you, again.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Mr. Swan, an

         13  opening statement?

         14                 MR. SWAN: Yes. Good morning,

         15  everyone. Again, my name is Jason Swan, and I would

         16  like to offer my thanks to you and members of the

         17  Committee for the opportunity to appear before you

         18  today.

         19                 I'm truly honored and humbled to have

         20  been nominated, and look forward to serving the City

         21  in this capacity.

         22                 My role in the Board will be as a

         23  person who has broad general background experience

         24  in the field of noise pollution control, and I

         25  thought I would open today by briefly outlining what
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          2  my qualifications, what qualifications I would bring

          3  to the Board.

          4                 I have a degree in architectural

          5  engineering, with emphasis on acoustics from the

          6  University of Kansas, and I've worked as an

          7  acoustical and noise consultant for over a decade.

          8                 I have extensive experience

          9  predicting and analyzing possible noise problems in

         10  the built environment, usually while it is still in

         11  the design phase, and designing the attenuation

         12  means and methods to prevent those noise problems

         13  once the building is done.

         14                 I also have a lot of experience doing

         15  noise survey work. Measuring noise, measuring

         16  vibrations, determining whether these are problems,

         17  and what sort of means there are to fix it. I do,

         18  and that's sort of what we would call

         19  troubleshooting.

         20                 I serve on the Sound and Vibration

         21  Technical Committee for the American Society of

         22  Heating, Refrigerating and Air Conditioning

         23  Engineers, which is commonly referred to as ASHRAE.

         24                 This body is active in directing

         25  research on noise control in the mechanical systems,
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          2  the building mechanical systems fields, and

          3  disseminates that information to professionals.

          4                 And I also give presentations on the

          5  basis of acoustics and noise control for

          6  architectural engineering firms, as well as at

          7  various educational forums.

          8                 I know this kind of experience will

          9  be invaluable to the Environmental Control Board as

         10  it seeks to fairly adjudicate the noise pollution

         11  cases that come before it.

         12                 I look upon the Board as a chance to

         13  serve the community of New York City, to use what I

         14  have learned over the years to make the City a

         15  better place.

         16                 I also look forward to learning from

         17  the other leaders and experts on the Board.

         18                 This year expertise will be crucial

         19  in making fair decisions regarding other issues the

         20  Board adjudicates.

         21                 And, again, I thank you for your time

         22  and consideration of my nomination and look forward

         23  to the opportunity.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         25                 Mr. Mayers, do you have something to
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          2  say?

          3                 MR. MAYERS: Yes, thank you. Good

          4  morning, Mr. Chairman Comrie, and to the other

          5  distinguished members.

          6                 My name is Gregorio Mayers, and it is

          7  certainly an honor and a privilege to be considered

          8  for appointment to the ECB.

          9                 Briefly, my background, I'm a

         10  resident of Brooklyn for the past 20 years. I'm

         11  currently a professor in the school of business and

         12  public administration at Medgar Evers College of the

         13  City University of New York where I teach public

         14  policy, administrative rules and many other public

         15  policy courses.

         16                 I'm an attorney also by trade, have

         17  extensive background in the area of community which

         18  that will be my role on this Board as the public

         19  member, and served for about eight years on

         20  Community Planning Board 9 in Brooklyn in the Crown

         21  Heights section of Brooklyn where I served as the

         22  Vice Chair of that Board and Chair of the Youth

         23  Committee and many other committees for about eight

         24  years.

         25                 Prior to that I've worked with a
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          2  number of civic and other professional and business

          3  organization groups in Brooklyn, as my resume will

          4  reflect. I'm honored again and privileged to bring

          5  my wealth of experience as a professor, as an

          6  attorney, as a person involved in many businesses,

          7  working with businesses in the community and as a

          8  public person in many other organizations. I think

          9  that my years of experience and educational

         10  background certainly will serve this Committee well,

         11  and I look forward to working with my other

         12  colleagues with their expertise that they will be

         13  bringing to the Board certainly with the

         14  distinguished body of elected officials present here

         15  today.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you,

         18  gentlemen.

         19                 Any members questions? Lew Fidler has

         20  a question.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chairman.

         23                 First, Mr. Russo, I'm sure that if

         24  Councilman Weprin were still here. He would join me

         25  in acknowledging that we're always happy to see a
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          2  former Albany State Great Dane make good (sic), and

          3  why you would give up an unpaid position as a

          4  democratic district leader for this role I can't

          5  imagine.

          6                 Mr. Mayers, Councilwoman Clarke has

          7  been whispering in my ear and speaking very, very

          8  highly of you.

          9                 I'm going to ask you one question.

         10  You were asked who referred you for this post and

         11  you said a former law school administrator; would

         12  you be a little bit more specific for us.

         13                 MR. MAYERS: Sure. Her name is Andrea

         14  Shapiro Davis, who was a former administrator who

         15  now works for the Mayor's Office.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Okay, thank

         17  you.

         18                 MR. MAYERS: Sure.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         20  Felder.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 First, I'd like to mention that I

         24  know that Anne McCarthy, who I think the Executive

         25  Director is her position --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We've been joined

          3  by Speaker Gifford Miller.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Anne McCarthy,

          5  who is the Executive Director of the ECB, my

          6  experience, my office has been one that she's just

          7  wonderful, and although she's accountable to you, I

          8  would ask you to let her do what she's been doing,

          9  because she does a great job, and even though you

         10  may come in with fresh blood, and fresh ideas, and

         11  creativity is great, but I think she knows what

         12  she's doing, and you should help her let her do what

         13  she's doing.

         14                 But having said that, I would also

         15  ask you to please, there are a number of issues, if

         16  there's anything you can do about, I'm just posing

         17  this as a statement to all of you, one has to do

         18  with the pooper scooper violations. I think that

         19  throughout the City it's becoming a plague. I went

         20  down my block I think it was a week ago before the

         21  snow, and I counted in front of every second house

         22  literally somebody had decided to contribute to the

         23  aesthetics of the neighborhood.

         24                 And I think it's ridiculous. And if

         25  there was any way that we could triple the fines,
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          2  and I don't have a problem locking people up, I'm

          3  not kidding around I think it's nuts. We're talking

          4  about everything else, quality of life. You go out,

          5  to tell your kids "be careful," and mean be careful

          6  not about terrorism but about where you walk? It's

          7  ridiculous. So, anything you can do to beef that up,

          8  I'd appreciate that.

          9                 As well as noise complaints. The way

         10  I understand it now is that in order, if you have a

         11  neighbor that's blasting music in the summer, in the

         12  winter, you know, the windows are closed, it's less

         13  of an issue, but in the summer you have to get some

         14  other neighbor to allow you to put the equipment

         15  there, and be there for a certain length of time.

         16                 Somehow there must be an easier way,

         17  you know, in 2003, with all our technology, to be

         18  able to legally track without having, you know, the

         19  FBI come down with all its -- you know, I feel like

         20  we're in some kind of espionage movie, to be able to

         21  ticket somebody for blasting their radios, and I

         22  think that it's something that should be pursued,

         23  whatever you can do to pursue that even further.

         24                 And, finally, I just want to mention

         25  a policy that I think has been in existence at ECB,
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          2  in terms of violations that are issued to sabbath

          3  observers, in terms of sanitation issues.

          4                 I think on the whole the policy has

          5  been that the Sanitation Department, or ECB

          6  understands that in certain neighborhoods there's no

          7  official law that they don't issue violations in

          8  those areas where they know that people cannot, are

          9  not permitted to clean on the sabbath or a holiday,

         10  but on occasion it happens, and I'm just asking that

         11  instead of legislatively from Albany there being

         12  something done, if there's some way to make sure

         13  that the policy that has been in effect for a long

         14  time is continued, and people are sensitized.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Very good

         17  statement, Councilman.

         18                 And we want to echo it, and I also

         19  want to add to it.

         20                 Also, in my district, we have a lot

         21  of problems with the waterfines, for people that

         22  water because they went on vacation, they forgot to

         23  readjust their automatic water sprinklers, or forgot

         24  to tell their neighbors not to look out for them in

         25  water, and a lot of people did not know their dates.
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          2  I've had at least 50 people last summer alone that

          3  had this situation, and ECB was just totally

          4  negative towards making any consideration or given

          5  any adjustments, and since your representative from

          6  ECB is here, I would appeal to you that to give

          7  these people some consideration, especially the

          8  senior homeowners that have appealed to my office,

          9  because despite the notices that go out, and despite

         10  putting it in your newsletter, people don't always

         11  know when the water restrictions are until they get

         12  a summons.

         13                 And I think, I understand why the

         14  City has to do a summons.

         15                 Councilman, don't leave. We have to

         16  vote, so don't go too far.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I'm not on the

         18  Committee.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Oh, you're not on

         20  the Committee?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: No. But I'm

         22  going to vote.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. I thought

         24  he was a new member. Okay.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I want to
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          2  thank the Chair for appointing me to the Rules

          3  Committee.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But, again, I

          5  would like to ask ECB to give some level of

          6  consideration, because they were not very

          7  considerate last summer and last fall with those

          8  types of matters.

          9                 Also, with Sanitation, when

         10  Sanitation doesn't pick up, you wind up having the

         11  cans in front of your house, then all of a sudden

         12  you're getting a violation, and it's really totally

         13  out of your control, especially if you're not

         14  getting home until 7:00 the next day, and you're

         15  thinking that, well, maybe they're going to pick up

         16  because they're a little behind, and you wind up,

         17  it's out there for the entire week, and you wind up

         18  getting a violation, it's a little bit unfair to a

         19  person that's trying to do the right thing.

         20                 So, I would appeal to you, and

         21  hopefully we can sit down with the entire Commission

         22  at one point and have a real discussion about some

         23  opportunities for some consideration for some of

         24  these things that happen within the course of City

         25  life.
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          2                 With that being said, I think I just

          3  stimulated some members here.

          4                 Council Member Clarke, and then

          5  Council Member Filder.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chair.

          8                 I'd just like to encourage the

          9  candidates before us to really look at the growing

         10  dynamic within our City of individuals who in

         11  particular are immigrants to the City of New York,

         12  and the role that we play in educating them about

         13  the Sanitation rules as they relate to the City of

         14  New York.

         15                 One of the challenges that I face in

         16  my community, which is a steady stream of immigrants

         17  is even just coming up to speed with respect to

         18  recycling, you know, what they, you know, how do we

         19  facilitate the learning curve essentially. And when

         20  we look at the fiscal times that we're in, the

         21  impact on our citizenry, you know, violation for

         22  this, violation for that, having to do alternate

         23  side of the street parking, and move your sanitation

         24  at the same time, it can be challenging.

         25                 I think that it's important that all
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          2  entities involved in Sanitation within our

          3  communities pause and look at the learning curve and

          4  ways in which on the chief we can really educate

          5  people.

          6                 I am not one who is completely

          7  pleased with the way in which our citizenry is

          8  becoming up to speed on this.

          9                 I started a Sanitation task force

         10  within my community just due to some of the

         11  behaviors I was seeing becoming a pattern, and, so,

         12  I would ask that the Commission take a look at maybe

         13  even geographically where certain types of

         14  violations are recurring, and perhaps send a notice

         15  to the local Council people so that we can become

         16  actively engaged in informing and educating our

         17  constituencies. I think that's something that ECB

         18  can be very helpful in, if we see that there's a

         19  rise in pooper scoop violators, in a particular

         20  area, then perhaps it's time for us to convene with

         21  some of the stakeholders in our community, ways to

         22  attack that, and also bring the teeth to bear. I

         23  think that fines are actually a deterrent, but if

         24  one is unaware of, you know, what those violations

         25  actually mean, and what the consequences are to
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          2  certain behavior, because they become sort of the

          3  way in that particular community, then it's kind of

          4  hard to grab hold of it.

          5                 So, I would ask each of you,

          6  including our representative from the administrative

          7  end, to take a look at ways in which we can deal

          8  with these particular issues within our communities.

          9                 We have situations of abandonment of

         10  cars, and actually the sheriff is a part of the

         11  problem, you know, what I'm saying, just leaving

         12  cars around.

         13                 So, these are the types of things

         14  that we need to band together to address.

         15                 And then, finally, I'd like to say

         16  that I've looked at the resumes of all of you and I

         17  think that you'd be fine additions to ECB.

         18                 I have a slight bias toward Mr.

         19  Mayers, because he's been active in my community,

         20  and I'm quite pleased with his work and his ability

         21  to grab hold of issues and be fair, and so I'd like

         22  to put that on the record for my colleagues, and

         23  wish you all well. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Councilman.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Fifteen
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          2  seconds on my pet peeves, since Leroy opened the

          3  door.

          4                 There were a rash of tickets given

          5  out by Sanitation for putting garbage cans out too

          6  early, and I have to tell you that I guess you don't

          7  have the power to change that law, maybe we do and

          8  maybe the law needs to be there for someone who

          9  truly abuses it, but I would urge any of you to fine

         10  people a dollar if they are forced to come down and

         11  contest a ticket for that.

         12                 I have gotten calls in my office

         13  about litter. I have gotten calls in my office about

         14  pooper scooper violations, but no one has called my

         15  office to say, Councilman, we have a huge problem

         16  with people putting their garbage cans out too

         17  early. And I have taken this issue up with the

         18  Sanitation Commissioner and told him that if

         19  Sanitation officers don't have anything better to do

         20  with their time, then we don't need them, all right?

         21  And quite frankly, they could be writing pooper

         22  scooper violations all over the place, obviously

         23  they need to go to Simcha's block, but this is my

         24  pet peeve. And anyone who comes into my office and

         25  tells me that they've gotten a ticket for that gets
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          2  a letter from me to bring to the ECB explaining my

          3  point of view that their time has been wasted so has

          4  yours, and I think perhaps if ECB members,

          5  adjudicators, started issuing fines in accordance

          6  with that set of priorities, Sanitation enforcement

          7  would stop writing those absurd summonses.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, that comes

          9  back to me, because when we do send a letter to ECB

         10  from the Council, I think that that has given some,

         11  we have given some thought to the persons innocent

         12  or guilt, and we would like to see some exceptional

         13  consideration given to those matters, and I'm not

         14  looking at you gentlemen, I'm looking at the

         15  gentleman who works at ECB so we don't have to come

         16  down there as a group of Council members and stand

         17  on your table, but constituents that do fall through

         18  the cracks and make mistakes, we'd like to see them

         19  given an opportunity to make one mistake and not

         20  have to pay the full fine for their one mistake, and

         21  while we want to have enforcement in those areas

         22  that are critical, as Council Member Fidler said, we

         23  don't want to harass our constituents that are the

         24  lifeblood of our City either.

         25                 With that being said, there was just
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          2  a couple of technical matters.

          3                 Mr. Russo, I don't agree with this

          4  policy, because I think serving as a district leader

          5  in non-pay position, it's important to the City, and

          6  I think it's unfair that you have to resign to

          7  accept this position which is also helping the City,

          8  but unfortunately, until we get the rule change, we

          9  have to get a copy of that resignation letter once

         10  you submit it, and Mr. Swan, there's an issue of

         11  confidentiality with relationships with your private

         12  sector job that I'm sure you'll adhere to, but for

         13  the technical record, we have to advise you that we

         14  have to be aware of that and act accordingly. And

         15  I'm sure you will.

         16                 All three gentlemen have excellent

         17  records, and I want to commend the City and the

         18  Mayor's Office for finding you and requesting that

         19  you serve, and I'm glad that you are increasing your

         20  commitment to the City by serving in this capacity

         21  and I hope that you have considered everything that

         22  all of the members have said today, we look forward

         23  to some interaction to you at certain points to see

         24  how you feel about how you're serving on the

         25  Environmental Control Board.
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          2                 I think it's a very important

          3  opportunity that you're providing and a service that

          4  you're giving to the City, and I hope that you are

          5  able to fulfill it with as much joy as possible,

          6  whenever it is working in bureaucracies to have joy

          7  is almost a misnomer, but we have to make life fun

          8  whenever possible.

          9                 So, gentlemen, thank you for coming.

         10                 We'll be voting on these appointments

         11  at this moment. Council Member Minority Leader Jimmy

         12  Oddo and the two members over there can come up for

         13  the vote we can vote on these candidates, and we

         14  have one quick technical matter to vote on

         15  separately. So, if the clerk can have any member

         16  that's in the other room come in for the vote, we

         17  can call the roll at this time.

         18                 Call Councilman Perkins and

         19  Councilman Weprin and Councilman Quinn and we can

         20  get them in after.

         21                 We're going to vote in this level, if

         22  you can call in anybody that's in the hall. Thank

         23  you.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Aye on all.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Provenzano.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Aye on

          4  all.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Rivera.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Aye on all.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Clarke.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Aye on all.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Aye on all.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Katz.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Aye on all.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Weprin.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Aye on all.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Oddo.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: By a vote of

         17  eight in the affirmative, zero in the negative, and

         18  no abstentions, all items are adopted.

         19                 Council Members, please sign the

         20  Committee reports.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let's see if

         22  we can make that nine.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

         24  Perkins.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Aye on all.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote is nine in

          3  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

          4  abstentions.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Congratulations,

          6  gentlemen.

          7                 Council Members, before you go in,

          8  there is one more item regarding the extension.

          9  Intro. 372, the extension of the term of office for

         10  the Districting Commission. That's pretty much

         11  self-sufficient, I'd like to call a vote at this

         12  time. If there be no questions on the matter.

         13                 Can we call the roll?

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Aye.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Perkins.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Provenzano.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Rivera.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Clarke.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Katz.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Weprin.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Aye.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Oddo.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of nine in

          9  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         10  abstentions, Intro. 372 is adopted.

         11                 Council members, please sign the

         12  Committee reports.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We will hold the

         14  roll open just for the vote.

         15                 But thank you very much, gentlemen,

         16  for coming down. We look forward to working with

         17  you, and congratulations.

         18                 MR. SWAN: Thank you.

         19                 MR. MAYERS: Thank you.

         20                 MR. RUSSO: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 12:03 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 26th day of February 2003.
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